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--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Anybody else?  Okay.  Just to give you an idea of what we're doing today in terms of breaks, we will take a short break at 10:45 to 11:00, and then we will have to break at 12:00 to accommodate another meeting that Panel members are attending and we will return at 1:15, okay?

So with that, Mr. Warren, are you next?

MR. WARREN:  I am.  Madam Chair, the information I gave Board Staff was that I would be ten minutes, but Mr. Janigan, in his haste to escape to the cooler climes of Ottawa, left me with the shag end of his cross-examination, so I may be a few minutes longer than ten minutes, for which I apologize.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.
UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 3, RESUMED

Michael Broeders, Previously Sworn


Darrin Canniff, Previously Sworn


Steven Fetter, Previously Sworn


Chip Fichtner, Previously Sworn

James Vander Weide, Previously Sworn
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Broeders, I think I can begin with you, and this is just a follow-up to an exchange that you had with Member Taylor yesterday and it is just to get the number correct.

Can you tell me what the impact is on the revenue deficiency of the change in the capital structure that you are seeking in the application?  There were two numbers, 17 million and 9 million, and I just wanted to make sure I had the right number.

MR. BROEDERS:  The number he was talking about yesterday, the $19 million --


MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. BROEDERS:  -- going from 36 to 40 percent, we -- the number is 19 million for the equity component only.

But to go there, there's an impact elsewhere within the capital structure to accommodate that.  So there's a reduction of 2 million related to the short-term debt, and that's how we got to the $17 million.

MR. WARREN:  So the impact, then, of the change in the equity structure is $17 million; is that right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct, if it's measured in short-term debt.  The real problem that we have with the capital structure and trying to measure what the change is, whether it is 36 to 40 or if it's only 36 to 38 or any other number, is what is going to be the impact.

If it goes from 40 down to 36, that's a $150 million change to the funding within the company.  That's not going to be able to be captured within short-term debt and would likely be long-term debt.

So there's a lot of numbers that you have to consider when looking at this.  Seventeen million is the number we put out there.

To go to 14, I think it's probably only about 14.8 million, assuming long-term debt of about $200 million at 4 percent.

MR. WARREN:  Well, what's a fair number for us to use for purposes of today's discussion, recognizing that there are a number of variables that may affect it?  Is it a $15 million number or a $17 million number?  You tell me what you think is a fair number for us to proceed on today.

MR. BROEDERS:  If you're going down to 36, the 14.8 million I believe is most appropriate number.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Dr. Vander Weide, I wonder if I could begin with you.  In your exchange with Mr. Janigan - and you don't need to turn it up, I don't think, but it appears at transcript page 120 - your observation apropos Dr. Booth's evidence was that on the topic of the comparison of Canadian and US utilities, you said you thought Dr. Booth's evidence was out of date.  Do you remember that?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And as I understand it from the transcript, Dr. Vander Weide, that was principally because US utilities now have a higher percentage of their activities that are regulated than was the case, you believed, when Dr. Booth's evidence -- or you believe was Dr. Booth's reference; is that correct?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  That would be one of the reasons.  The other is that the US utilities have increased the percentage of equities -- equity in their capital structures and have focussed primarily on the regulated utility businesses.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in that context, I wonder, Dr. Vander Weide, if you would turn up pages 70 and 71 of Dr. Booth's testimony, and it appears conveniently at pages 36 and 37 of the brief that Mr. Janigan prepared for you.

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Pages 36 and 37 of Dr. Booth's testimony?

MR. WARREN:  No.  It is page 70 of his testimony, but pages 36 and 37 of the brief that Mr. Janigan filed with you.

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Oh, okay.  Yes, I'm there.

MR. WARREN:  Now, beginning on -- I'm going to use the pagination in the Janigan brief.  Beginning on page 36, Dr. Booth refers to a Moody's report in 2005 in which - and this is my paraphrase, my gloss, with which of course you are free to disagree - Moody's analysis was less on the fact of regulation than on the substance of regulation; that is, the differences between the substance of regulation in the United States and the substance of regulation in Canada.

And as I read, first of all, beginning at line 7 on page 36, what Dr. Booth draws from the Moody's 2005 report is that substantively regulation is more protective in Canada than it is in the United States, and then he goes on.  At the bottom of page 36, he says:
"Moody's reviewed this report and issued a new one in August 2009.  The new Moody's report refines their assessment into four major areas where in the following table the % indicates the weights applied by Moody's."

And if I could turn you over to the next page, that is page 37 of the brief, beginning at line 4.  And I quote:
"Moody's states very clearly 'for a regulated utility the predictability and supportiveness of the regulatory framework in which it operates is a key credit consideration and the one that differentiates the industry from most other corporate sectors.'"


Then going down to the next paragraph, beginning at line 9 --


DR. VANDER WEIDE:  I'm sorry, which page is that on?

MR. WARREN:  Page 37 of the Janigan brief, beginning at line 9.  He is quoting Moody's.  He says:
"Further in discussing the US and Canada Moody's states:
"'Moody's views the regulatory risk of US utilities as being higher in most cases than that of utilities located in some other developed countries, including Japan, Australia and Canada.  The difference in risk reflects our view that individual state regulation is less predictable than national regulation; a highly fragmented market in the US results in stronger competition in wholesale power markets; US fuel and power markets are more volatile; there is a low likelihood of extraordinary political action to support a failing company in the US; holding company structures limit regulatory oversight; and overlapping and unclear regulatory jurisdictions characterize the US market.  As a result no US utilities, except for transmission companies subject to federal regulation, score higher than a single A in this factor.'"


Now, that is a 2009 report of Moody's.  And can you and I agree as a starting point, Dr. Vander Weide, that that is not, quote, "out of date"?  Is it?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  No, I don't think we can agree on that.  There is -- since 2009, there has been quite a noted increase in the number of cost adjustment clauses and revenue stabilization clauses, as I discuss in my testimony, and the US utilities now have a much greater use of cost adjustment and revenue stabilization mechanisms than they did several years ago.

In addition, I would note that Moody's view, as expressed there, as expressed by Dr. Booth, is inconsistent with Standard & Poor's.  Standard & Poor's has published a document at the end of 2011, I believe it was, in which they discussed the business risk of Canadian utilities, and they state clearly that they include regulatory risk in their assessment of business risk.

And they provide essentially the same business risk ratings for US utilities as they do for Canadian utilities.  Indeed, it is possible to interpret that it is slightly higher for US utilities.

And this is -- these are more recent than the Moody's assessment.

MR. WARREN:  So am I to take it from your testimony that you regard the 2009 Moody's report, some two-and-a-half years old, as now on every respect, every point they make in that paragraph, as being out of date?  That is your position?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  No.  I think you're mischaracterizing my testimony.

My testimony was that many of the things in Booth's testimony are out of date.  I didn't say that every single one of them was out of date.


For instance, his references to Enron and bankruptcies that occurred many years ago are certainly out of date.  And certainly, his reference to the 2005 Moody's is out of date.  And even the 2009, although perhaps more recent, is not up to date on the cost adjustment mechanisms and the revenue stabilization mechanisms that are now used more frequently at US utilities.


MR. WARREN:  So am I to understand your evidence, then - I want to deal with what Moody's says, not what Dr. Booth says, what Moody's says in the paragraph I have quoted - on all of the points in there, is it your position that Moody's is out of date?


DR. VANDER WEIDE:  I don't think that Moody's -- I wouldn't use the word -- I don't know what the word "out of date" means entirely, although I have used that word.


I would say that Moody's does not reflect the latest information on the cost adjustment mechanisms and the revenue stabilization mechanisms for US utilities.


MR. WARREN:  Could I ask you to turn up, please, Exhibit J.E-2-12-15, which appears conveniently at pages 42 and 43 of the Janigan brief?


Now, this is an interrogatory from Mr. Thompson's client, the CME, directed to Mr. Fetter.


And on page 43, in answer to a question, Mr. Fetter says -- and I quote, and this is in subparagraph e):

"Mr. Fetter believes that this is an accurate statement (See attached S&P report ranking Canadian Utilities Strongest to Weakest).  Mr. Fetter believes that, on a general basis, regulatory support for Canadian utilities has a greater positive influence on how their credit ratings are assigned as compared to U.S. utility credit ratings."


Now, that was filed on the -- depending on whether you are using US or Canadian dating mechanisms, either the 5th of May -- sorry, the 5th of April or the 4th of May.


Was Mr. Fetter out of date when he made that statement?


DR. VANDER WEIDE:  I believe it reflects Mr. Fetter's current view, as at the time that he responded.  I have reflected what my view is.


MR. WARREN:  Do you disagree with what Mr. Fetter says?


DR. VANDER WEIDE:  I think -- well, my view is the view that I have expressed here this morning.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Fetter, could I, then, turn to you, please?  Again, I am going to begin with a couple of transcript references, and I don't think you need to turn them up, but for reference, one is at page 147 of yesterday's transcript, in which you say - and I am paraphrasing - that an enhanced equity thickness would benefit customers through the company's enhanced ability to attract capital from investors when needed, and upon reasonable terms.


Then at page 149, you said that sustaining credit quality is helpful to the operation of the utility and ultimately its customers, and compared to a weakening credit profile.


Now, when it was put to you -- and this is at page 150 of the transcript, in response to Union's acknowledgement that enhancing the equity portion of their capital structure is unlikely to result in a rating upgrade or a significant impact on the cost of debt –- your response to that was that you pointed to the need to create a credit profile which can respond to unforeseen events such as the 2008/2009 worldwide financial crisis.


Do you remember generally that response?


MR. FETTER:  Yes.  And I have the document in front of me, if that helps.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I would ask you to turn up, please, Exhibit J.E-2-12-8, which appears conveniently at page 34 of Mr. Janigan's brief.


Now, this is the DBRS and S&P ratings for Union for the period from 1990 to 2011.  Do you see that on page 2 of 2?  That is actually page 34 of the document; 34.


MR. FETTER:  You are talking about the response under a) of that IR?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.  It is on page 2 of 2.


MR. FETTER:  I see it.


MR. WARREN:  Now, you can help me with this, Mr. Fetter, because you are more familiar with these ratings than I am, but my reading of the DBRS rating is that Union maintained an A rating in the years 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011; in other words, they maintained an A rating through a financial crisis which everybody from the most sophisticated financial advisors in the world down to the guy who runs the Rabba store on my corner said was the most serious financial crisis we have had since the Great Depression.


Do you agree with me they were able to maintain that A rating through that, sir, with their current --


MR. FETTER:  According --


MR. WARREN:  -- equity structure?


MR. FETTER:  I'm sorry, sir.  According to this chart, they maintained an A rating.


MR. WARREN:  Now, would you agree with me that the S&P rating, it's my understanding that the S&P rating, which declined from an A and A minus and A in 2001, 2002 to a BBB-plus or BBB in the succeeding clears, is a function of S&P rating Union on the basis of its relationship with Duke Energy?  Is that fair?  Is that your understanding?


MR. FETTER:  There has been some discussion of that relationship, although they -- in more recent times, S&P's noted that there is some protection for the regulated entity versus the parent.


MR. WARREN:  But in fairness to you, Mr. Fetter -- because these exchanges have an unhappy way of turning up in final argument -- your proposition yesterday was that they needed a change in the equity structure in order to deal with unforeseen events.


And am I wrong in my conclusion that they were able, through that financial crisis, to withstand unforeseen, severe financial crises with their existing equity structure?


MR. FETTER:  Let me note that they did sustain it through that economic crisis, but that regulators across Canada have increased equity thicknesses for utilities -- I think in large part in response to that economic crisis -- to ensure the ability to access funding at reasonable levels going forward, if there is another financial crisis that were to occur.


MR. WARREN:  Could I ask you, Mr. Fetter, to turn up J.E-2-14-1, and this is not, unhappily, in the Janigan brief.  I apologize for that.  So it will take a moment for you to turn it up.  J.E-2-14-1.


It is a response by Union Gas to the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters interrogatory.


I apologize for not having this, but this is another of the --


MR. FETTER:  I have a copy in front of me.


MR. WARREN:  You do?  Okay.  Now, one of the questions that was asked -- it is question a) -- for the most recent financing listed in Exhibit A3, tab 7:

"What was the amount of time that elapsed between the date the information circulars were distributed to the public and the investments described therein were fully subscribed?"


And the answer appears:

"These issuances were launched in the morning and subscribed by that afternoon."


So with the existing debt ratings, you could measure the length of time people took up those issuances with an egg timer; isn't that fair, Mr. Fetter?


MR. FETTER:  Clearly the investors felt that the return they were getting was attractive enough to subscribe to the issuance.


MR. WARREN:  Given, at the time, the existing equity structure.  Right, Mr. Fetter?


MR. FETTER:  The existing equity structure and the return that they would receive for that instrument.


MR. FICHTNER:  I would note that is a fairly standard schedule for investment-grade issuers, that they announce a deal, a transaction in the morning and it is typically priced by the afternoons.


MR. WARREN:  It certainly wouldn't be characteristic, would you agree, witness, of a company whose financial strengths was regarded as weak or non-existent; fair?


MR. FICHTNER:  I said of investment-grade companies, which Union Gas is.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Finally, I want to turn, finally, back to you, Mr. Broeders.


Yesterday, in an exchange that took place with Mr. Thompson at page 128 of the transcript, he asked you
that -- whether you had, and this is my gloss on the exchange -- that you did not ask your experts to analyze whether Union's -- whether there would have been significant changes in the company's business and/or financial risks since 2007.  They were not asked to do that.  And your answer is, "That is correct".

And then you -- it was put to you the proposition that you accept your overall risk profile has not materially changed since 2004.  Do you remember that exchange?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Thompson put those questions to you in the context of the Board's policy, as expressed in its 2009 cost of capital decision, and, Mr. Broeders, I want to put that exchange in an actually fundamentally different context to get your response.

Our Court of Appeal here in Ontario in a decision issued in 2010 that your counsel will be very familiar with, a decision involving Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited, articulate and, I would argue, rearticulated the principle that utilities must balance the needs of their shareholders and those of their ratepayers.

Now, we can agree that the increase in the equity component of your capital structure will increase the revenue deficiency by, let's be fair to you, $14.8 million a year.  We agree on that; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And that increase is, I suggest to you, a benefit to your shareholder; fair?

MR. BROEDERS:  It is certainly a benefit to the shareholder, as stated by Mr. Fetter earlier, that there are the intrinsic benefits to ratepayers having Union Gas maintain its financial stability or their leverage components.

MR. WARREN:  We certainly will have arguments, and reasonable people will disagree about whether or not that benefit is actually required, but let's for the moment just take it at the stark fact that it will be, at least in raw numbers, a benefit to the shareholders and a cost to your ratepayers.  Can we agree with that?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I'm wondering, in light of that and in light of the Court of Appeal's description of the obligation to balance the needs of shareholders and ratepayers, did you think it incumbent on you, in preparing this application, for you to actually satisfy yourself and the Board that you had fully discharged the onus of balancing the interests in ratepayers by asking your experts to assess your financial and business risks?

Did you not think that was an obligation on you in order to satisfy that Court of Appeal obligation, or the obligation expressed by the Court of Appeal?

MR. BROEDERS:  As I stated yesterday, Union Gas does not believe that its risk has materially changed.

However, our risk is not -- or, sorry, the equity structure is not commensurate with the risk that we have.  Also, when we take a look at our interest coverage ratios, based on the regulated side of the company, the regulated entity could not issue debt, because we would be under the 2.0 requirement.

The only reason that we can issue debt is because the unregulated entity is subsidizing the company.

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  I would note, as well, that when one compares the benefits to the ratepayers -- to the company and the cost to the ratepayers, just by comparing the interest rate on the debt to the cost of equity, that this misstates what the benefit is.

If one just compares the interest rate on the debt to the cost of equity, one could easily conclude that it would benefit the ratepayers, if a company had 100 percent debt and no equity.  And everybody would agree that is ridiculous.

What that comparison of the cost of debt to the cost of equity misses is the risk to the company on a going-forward basis and being able to deal with financial crises and being able to reduce the uncertainty in the business and financial environment.

And it is undoubtedly clear that since the financial crisis, there has been a tremendous shift in attitudes toward debt and the use of leverage across both Canada and the US.

US companies, US -- and Canadian individual investors have reduced the amount of debt in their capital structures and in their financing.

We learned that debt can have deleterious consequences during that difficult period, and across the board the attitude is that investors, individuals, corporations and governments ought to reduce their reliance on debt.  That is pretty much a universal change in the views of leverage -- of the use of leverage for individual and corporate and government entities.

MR. WARREN:  If I could return to you, Mr. Broeders, for an answer to my question, which was:  Did you not feel it incumbent on you, in balancing the interests of your ratepayers and your shareholder, to provide the Board with evidence that your financial and business risk was fundamentally different than it was in 2004?  Did you not feel that was an obligation on you?

MR. BROEDERS:  We submitted evidence on the change before.  However, as we look at doing our filing for 2013, we felt the risks have not materially changed.  So it
was -- our position is based on comparability to other entities.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, and thank you, members of the Panel.

MS. HARE:  Thank you. Mr. Quinn, are you next, or Mr. Brett or Mr. Aiken?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I believe I am going next.  It would be helpful if you have Exhibit K1.1.  That is the LPMA compendium that was filed last week sometime.

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  What was the exhibit number?

MR. AIKEN:  K1.1.

MR. BROEDERS:  I have it.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 6 of the compendium, this is Exhibit J.E-2-2-2, and I want to ask some follow-up questions on the responses provided here.

The response to part a) indicates that the current blended weather methodology is biassed upwards towards colder weather and is not symmetric with respect to risks, while the proposed 20-year trend methodology has symmetric revenue risk.

Does this mean that you agree that the average weather risk would be reduced, since the proposed methodology makes the risk symmetrical, whereas before, the probability of a negative outcome to Union was higher than the probability of a positive outcome?

MR. BROEDERS:  I agree that the impact will be less, but the risk still exist.  It is now just now it is symmetric and balanced, or the proposal would have it be balanced.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  The response to part b), which is on the following page, shows that in 2007 about 48 percent - and you can take that subject to check - of the distribution revenues were from fixed charges, while in the 2013 forecast this ratio has risen to slightly more than 60 percent.


So, first, can you explain what is included in the fixed revenues?

MR. BROEDERS:  As far as customer charge and demand charges; is that what you're referring to?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  I'm assuming the fixed revenue is composed of monthly fixed charges and demand charges.

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Can you explain what is driving this increase in the share of the fixed revenues between these two periods?

MR. BROEDERS:  I believe that is related to the annual increase of a dollar per month, a dollar per month on the residential charge -- per year.

MR. AIKEN:  It is what now, $21 a month, I believe?

MR. BROEDERS:  I think so.  That is Sara's and Paul's bailiwick.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree there is less forecast risk in the fixed revenues than in the variable revenues?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  In part d) of the question, which is page 8 of the compendium, I asked whether Union was proposing any protection through deferral or variance accounts with respect to the cost escalation risk and, in particular, to bad debt, vehicle fuel costs, company-use gas, unaccounted-for gas, or any other cost.

The response indicates that Union was not proposing any new deferral accounts in this proceeding.

So can you elaborate on the deferral or variance accounts that will continue to protect Union from the cost escalation risks?

MR. BROEDERS:  I believe that's with Ms. Elliott.  I think she speaks to the deferrals in the finance panel.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

If you could turn to page 10 of the compendium, you will see attachment 1 from Exhibit J.E-2-3-6.  There is a table that shows the deemed equity ratio and the ratings from S&P and DBRS for a number of Canadian utilities.

And you may have to do this by undertaking, given your previous response, but can you indicate which of these companies have the same protection related to the cost of gas that Union has for company-use gas and unaccounted-for gas?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know what deferral mechanisms they may have.

MR. AIKEN:  So would this be an undertaking for this panel?  Or should I ask Ms. Elliott to determine which of these other utilities have these same deferral and variance accounts?  If you know.

MR. SMITH:  We will provide the undertaking.  And to the extent the information is -- we know the information or it is ascertainable, we will provide it.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  to INDICATE WHICH COMPANIES HAVE THE SAME PROTECTION RELATED TO COST OF GAS THAT UNION HAS FOR COMPANY-USE GAS AND UNACCOUNTED-FOR GAS, AND WHICH HAVE AN AVERAGE USE TRUE-UP DEFERRAL ACCOUNT FOR GENERAL SERVICE CUSTOMER CLASSES.


MR. AIKEN:  Maybe as an add-on to that, you are aware that you currently, under IRM, have an average use true-up deferral account for the general service customer classes?

MR. BROEDERS:  I am aware of that, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And could you, then, add to the undertaking which of these other Canadian utilities have a similar mechanism?

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, just to be clear, ATCO Electric DISCO is an electric.  Are you distinguishing here by commodity, or do you want the same answer for all entities?

MR. AIKEN:  Same answer for all entities.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just... I am just pausing over the average use.  I am not aware whether -- other than Enbridge, obviously -- the utilities are in an IRM period.

So the question relating to average use may not be applicable, Mr. Aiken, but we can add it to the undertaking.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  And Union itself will not be using an average use deferral account in 2013.

MR. AIKEN:  I believe that's a question for one of the following panels, is it not?  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Well, yes, but you know what the prefiled evidence is.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And there is some confusion around that prefiled evidence, but we will deal with it when we get there.

If you could turn to page 9 of the compendium, Exhibit J.E-2-2-3?

MR. BROEDERS:  I have that.

MR. AIKEN:  This response indicates that Union will finance its growth in the 2013 test year "by suspending dividends for the second half of 2012 and all of 2013 ... to achieve a 40 percent equity component."

We're now in the second half of 2012.  Has the suspension of dividends taken effect?

MR. BROEDERS:  The first one that would be suspended would be in September.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  What is the -- what is your actual equity component, as we sit here today?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know.  I have not done that calculation.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide that information?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.2:  TO CALCULATE ACTUAL EQUITY COMPONENT.


MR. BROEDERS:  As a point of clarification, do you want that on June or December?  So the last year-end or on the interim statements?

MR. AIKEN:  Both.

MR. BROEDERS:  Both?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Aiken, just going back to the Undertaking J5.1, as Board Member Taylor pointed out, you have some electrics in this list.

I don't want Union Gas to go to a lot of trouble finding out information on something that may not be relevant.

Is it really relevant to include all 14 of these –- well, 13, because Union is here – companies, that at the end of the day we're just going to conclude that they're not comparable?

MR. AIKEN:  Well, if -- obviously, if they're electrics, they won't have, or I assume they won't have a deferral account for the cost of gas.  So it would be fairly simple to answer that.

But I wanted the electrics included specifically for the average use account, because that obviously could be applicable in those instances.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Please continue.

MR. AIKEN:  Did I get an undertaking number?

MS. HARE:  We had one already.

MR. MILLAR:  Your microphone, Randy.

MR. SMITH:  I believe Mr. Aiken is asking in relation to the actual equity calculation.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, the actual equity ratios.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we did.  That is J5.2.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the long-term debt, my understanding is that Union is forecasting an issuance of $125 million in the last quarter of 2002 at an effective cost rate of 3.9 percent, and then nothing for 2013; is that correct?

Or has that been updated as a result of the settlement agreement?

MR. BROEDERS:  Could you -- just clarification again.  Did you say 2002 or 2012?

MR. AIKEN:  I should have said 2012, if I didn't.

MR. BROEDERS:  2012?  As a result of the settlement agreement, right now we are looking at $100 million issuance for 2012.  And for 2013, no debt issue, assuming the 40 percent equity component.

As mentioned earlier, if that changes we would have to look at issuing long-term debt in 2013.

MR. AIKEN:  That was actually going to be my next question.

So if the Board were to determine that your equity ratio should stay at 36 percent, what would that 100 million in long-term debt issuances be?  And at what rate?  Would the 3.9 percent still be an appropriate rate?

MR. BROEDERS:  I think 2013 will be 200 million, as we discussed earlier.

2012, I think would have to change to 150 million, but I would have to verify that calculation.

The interest rate, however, we have looked at and updated, and it looks to be still about the 3.9 range.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  If you could turn to the last page in the compendium, page 16, this is schedule 3 from appendix B to the settlement agreement.

I note in your capital structure, you have preference shares that represent 2.75 percent of your capital structure.

This is on the bottom half, the "per settlement agreement" section.

For regulatory purposes, do you consider this, these preference shares, to be equity or debt?

MR. BROEDERS:  We do not consider it as part of the common equity component.

MR. AIKEN:  Did the EB-2009-0084 report of the Board deal with the issue of preference shares, and how they were to be treated?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't recall.

MR. AIKEN:  Exhibit J.E-1-2-3, which is found at page 15 of the compendium, asked whether Union agreed that in addition to the change in the equity component of the capital structure, whether the long-term debt and short-term debt should also be reviewed and moved more in line with the electricity distributors, as set out in the EB-2009-0084 Report of the Board.

Union's response indicates no, basically stating that your capital structure should reflect your real costs of your actual capital structure, rather than a deemed structure.  Have I paraphrased that adequately?

MR. BROEDERS:  When we're referring to that, we were saying that it should reflect the real costs of our debt, debt and preference shares, not trying to do an actual component on our equity.

MR. AIKEN:  For regulatory purposes, how do you define short-term debt in terms of the length of the debt?

MR. BROEDERS:  So if we go back to page 16, which shows the summary of cost of capital, we start with the rate base of 3,713,887.  The common equity component is multiplied by, right now, the proposed equity component of 40 percent.

The preference shares are based on actual, what our actual preference shares are that's been allocated to the regulated business; similarly, with the long-term debt.

And then the unfunded short-term debt basically is the plug or takes the swing between rate base and those other three numbers.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand that, but that wasn't precisely my question.  So let me try and rephrase it.

Instead of asking how do you define short-term debt, how do you define long-term debt in terms of the length of the debt?  Is it any debt over a year in length?

MR. BROEDERS:  I'm sorry, I missed the trailing part of your question earlier.

Long-term debt is based on bond issues; is that correct?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.  So it would include current maturities of long-term debt.

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, can I just clarify?  Is short-term debt anything due within the next 12 months, including short-term maturities?

MR. BROEDERS:  It does not include the current portion of long-term debt, no.  The short term is just our commercial paper program, our short-term facility.

MS. TAYLOR:  So all, generally speaking, less than 12 months in duration; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Oh, thank you.  Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  I think I am next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  I think I'm next.  Panel, in the DBRS report -- sorry, the Standard & Poor's report that was filed at Exhibit A3, tab 6 -- I don't think you have to turn this up.  My question is pretty simple.

There was a bit of discussion on the undertakings given by Spectra to the OEB or to the government in the context of assessing the risk of Union Gas.

I understand that those undertakings have not been filed in this proceeding.  Would you undertake to file those, please?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.3:  TO FILE UNDERTAKINGS GIVEN BY SPECTRA TO THE OEB OR GOVERNMENT IN THE CONTEXT OF ASSESSING THE RISK OF UNION GAS, WITH REFERENCE TO STANDARD & POOR'S REPORT FILED AT EXHIBIT A3, TAB 6.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Oh.  I am just looking at the cost estimates -- sorry, the time estimates.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I should tell you I meant to preface my questions by saying that I had a lot of questions, but they were more than adequately covered by the other questions.

MS. HARE:  No need to explain.  It's very good.  There is no need to repeat what has already been asked.

So who is up next?  Mr. Quinn?

MR. SMITH:  I don't have a plane that can get from Chatham fast enough for the next panel.

MS. HARE:  The next panel should be Dr. Booth.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Yes.

MS. HARE:  He's not available today?

MR. SMITH:  No, he is arranged for Thursday morning.

MR. MILLAR:  We still have Mr. Shepherd, I believe.  I don't see him in the room.  I sent him an e-mail to let him know things are moving more quickly than --


MS. HARE:  I have a time estimate of 60 minutes for TransCanada, and they're not here, and SEC for 60 minutes and they're not here.

MR. MILLAR:  I will advise them they should be here.

MS. HARE:  I assume they're listening in.

MR. BRETT:  I know Mr. Shepherd is in the building.  I saw him come into the office a while back.

MS. HARE:  In any event, Mr. Quinn, then please proceed with your cross.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn, and I represent the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

And I should be fairly close to my time estimate, also, in that Mr. Warren did lead you through something that I was going to walk you through, Mr. Broeders, this morning.  And if you just have handy in front of you page 127 and 128 of the transcript Mr. Thompson had gone through with you yesterday?

I just want to cover off an angle I didn't hear discussed yesterday.  Do you have that?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. QUINN:  Clearly, Mr. Thompson was canvassing your views of business risk, and I was surprised to hear you say that Union's risks had not materially changed to this day.

I also listened as Mr. Janigan led you through Carpenter's evidence from the day the last assessment was made, and I would say that he -- when Mr. Janigan led you through it, I saw some significant departures in mitigating risk from the risks that were covered in that day.

I will leave some of that for argument, but I do want to touch on one aspect that has materially changed since that time.

You would be aware that the NGEIR decision in 2006 implemented over the succeeding years has created a very profitable line of business for the Union Gas company?  You are aware of that?

MR. BROEDERS:  The unregulated portion was split from the company -- from the regulated, yes.

MR. QUINN:  I guess the words I choose to use is the non-utility portion, which is where we tend to refer to that, but I just want to make sure that we understand each other.

I am referring to the non-utility storage line.

MR. BROEDERS:  It may just be nomenclature.  There are components within the regulated business that are non-utility, for instance, charitable donations, or something, that we always back out when we look at the earnings sharing calculation.  I look at storage as non-regulated.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if we use it interchangeably, I will be calling it non-utility and that is the line I am referring to specifically.  And you may have some additional components in there that you would evaluate.

But I trust that in the company's evaluation of its business risk, it realizes the company has had a very profitable return on the non-utility storage business line that has been created since the last evaluation.  Would you agree with me on that point?

MR. BROEDERS:  It's been separated.  There's risk in both parts of the company.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You do know that, though, it is a matter of record in OEB proceedings that the level of return on the non-utility storage exceeds, by multiples, the Board-approved rate.  Do you understand that?

MR. BROEDERS:  I imagine it exceeds the rate.  I also know it's been declining because of storage prices.

MR. QUINN:  Well, just so -- for example, would you take it subject to check that Union has submitted an IR response in Exhibit B3.41 in EB-2010-0039 that states the non-utility storage operation had already achieved a return of 38.9 percent in 2009, and that was well before the complete phase-out of sharing with customers?

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, I didn't hear the first part of your question.

MR. QUINN:  Would you take it subject to check that Union has submitted --


MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  -- an IR in B3.41, a 38.9 percent return on investment, and this was before the elimination of sharing with customers?

MR. BROEDERS:  I would take that subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

So given that incremental level of profitability from the substantial business line, would your professional assessment suggest that the company's business and financial risk went up or down from a single-digit rate of return?

MR. BROEDERS:  When we're looking at the overall company, we feel that the risk has not materially changed.  There's going to be ins and outs on -- in all aspects.  We were taken down a few things which we do -- we mentioned some things yesterday that increased it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I think I can leave some of the rest of that, but I heard you answering a question - I think it was from Mr. Warren - that when you're talking about interest coverage you said, based upon the regulated company, you could not issue debt?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you agree that the position that your company has taken and this Board has approved, that you would continue to run the non-utility storage business in the company and that there is no need for divestiture or functional separation?

MR. BROEDERS:  If we feel that the unregulated business should be subsidizing the regulated business, then, yes, the company will not have a problem issuing debt, much to his happiness I'm sure.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess my question is, maybe phrased a different way:  Is there anything in this application wherein the company is proposing any change to the level of separation of the non-utility storage business?

MR. SMITH:  No, we are not proposing to sell the non-utility storage business.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in assessing your ability to issue debt, it would be viewed on the total company return, would it not?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. MacIntosh, do you have some questions?
Cross-Examination by Mr. MacIntosh:

MR. MacINTOSH:  I do just have a couple of clarification questions, Madam Chair.

I wonder if the panel could turn up J.E-2-3-6.  It is an Energy Probe interrogatory.

MR. BROEDERS:  I have that.

MR. MacINTOSH:  The interrogatory asked to provide all available Canadian comparable, showing equity thicknesses, DBRS and S&P ratings and financial indicators.

And on attachment 1, there is a list of deemed equity ratio, and looking at that attachment, we might ask:  How is it that, in general, S&P has lower ratings?  DBRS rates some utilities lower than S&P.  And the point might be there that we cannot say that DBRS' rating system results in higher ratings.

So attachment 1 shows Union, Enbridge, and Gaz Métro at the highest rating by DBRS, despite being the three having the equity thickness.

What would you interpret from this fact?

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, are you saying the S&P ratings are the highest for Enbridge and Union Gas?

MR. MacINTOSH:  I'm sorry?

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry.  You were referring to DBRS.  My mistake.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Yes.

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know what goes on in the minds of DBRS or S&P to determine their ratings.  I know generally what they're looking at, and that's in their reports, but beyond that I can't speak to why one rates higher versus another company.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Then let us turn to an IR --


MS. HARE:  Excuse me, Mr. MacIntosh.

MR. MacINTOSH:  I'm sorry?

MS. HARE:  I think maybe you misstated what the evidence is.  Ms. Taylor is going to clarify.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. MacIntosh.  In line -- page 37, line 8 of the transcript or so, you said that DBRS rates some utilities lower than S&P, and I think what the attachment is suggesting is that, with the exception of AltaGas, where the DBRS rating is the same of that of S&P, all of the other DBRS ratings are higher.  And I think that accounts for some of the confusion.

MR. MacINTOSH:  Right.  Thank you.

Now, if we could turn to J.E-2-15-3, this is a School Energy Coalition IR, and I am looking at attachment 2.

MR. BROEDERS:  I have that.

MR. MacINTOSH:  And that's listing the strengths of Union.  And this is a report of January 24th, 2012, listing the strengths as "reasonable regulatory environment", "large customer base and strong service area", "reasonable credit metrics", and "additional earnings growth from storage facilities."  Now, that's reasonable credit metrics at the current thickness, equity thickness.

The challenges are, as always, volume risk and decline in customer usage, expansion into unregulated businesses, but that challenge, isn't that a challenge of the shareholder?

MR. BROEDERS:  First off, you assume that the rating is just based on the strengths, I think, by the conclusions you were making in your preface.

DBRS is stating that -- that the rating is not commensurate with the equity structure, as it states at the end of the second paragraph.

As far as the challenges that you were starting to list, the second one, yes, that would be borne by the shareholder, because it relates to the unregulated business.

The first one is just speaking to the risk in the volume, including on the contract market with recessionary impacts towards manufacturing and the auto sectors, and just the usage in the residential market.

MR. MacINTOSH:  And the challenge number 4, "consistent free cash from deficits", that would also be a shareholder risk?  Am I correct in that?

Mr. Fichtner:  Well, that would be the result of, most likely, capital expansion, which could be for the utility or for the unregulated side.

MR. MacINTOSH:  I see Mr. Shepherd approaching, and so I will conclude my questions.

Thank you, Madam Chair.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  What if he hadn't approached?

MR. MacINTOSH:  I would have been in trouble.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just before we --


MR. MacINTOSH:  And so would he.

MS. TAYLOR:  -- leave, Mr. MacIntosh, the quote that you are reading out of the DBRS report, you said the risk is "consistent free cash flow from deficits."  That's what you -- the transcript says.

The actual quote is "consistent free cash flow deficits."  So it doesn't --


MR. MACINTOSH:  So "consistent free cash flow deficits"?

MS. TAYLOR:  What you said to the panel was "consistent free cash from deficits."

MR. MACINTOSH:  I apologize.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd, do you have cross-examination for this panel?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do, Madam Chair.  I'm sorry I wasn't here this morning, although I was listening.

MS. HARE:  That's good.  So you are not going to repeat what was already asked?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except for maybe the last three minutes, but all the rest of it I heard.

MS. HARE:  We will take a break in 10 minutes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually may be finished by then.  We'll see.  Some of the things that are in my materials have already been covered.

I have cross-examination materials here.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, these are the materials of SEC for the cost of capital panel.  It will be Exhibit K5.1 and I will bring copies up to you.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  SEC Cross-Examination MATERIALS FOR COST OF CAPITAL PANEL

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, there are actually more copies being done right now because I sort of had to rush up, so if there are not enough copies for everybody, they will be here shortly.  The copier is actually doing it right now.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd, we were going to take a break at quarter to.  We will take the break now.  We will wait for the copies to come, and so we will resume at five to eleven.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:37 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:21 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd, we're ready for your cross.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Witnesses, you have the materials of the School Energy Coalition, K5.1.  I think I am just going to walk through this.  I don't think you need to refer to anything else, unless something unexpected happens.

On page 2 of K5.1, we've prepared a summary of some of the results of this issue, and I just want to walk you through that and make sure that we're on the same page with this.

The first section here takes your existing capital structure and applies it to the settled rate base, and I just want to ask you to turn, if you could, to page 4 of our materials.

Page 4 is where you've responded to a Board Staff interrogatory by breaking down the cost of capital at the existing capital structure; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's right, for each component
that -- the debt and equity components.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we have taken those percentages, 61.66, et cetera, and we have applied them, then, to the settled rate base on page 2.  Do you see that?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except for rounding differences, does that part of it look okay to you?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then we've also taken the cost rates from that source, except that in the case of the long-term debt, the cost rate actually goes up because of the settlement, right, because you issue less inexpensive debt next year; is that right?  So instead of being 6.50 percent, it is 6.53 percent on long-term debt; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is because less rate base means you borrow less?

MR. BROEDERS:  Correct.  When we decreased -- in the settlement, we said we decreased the long-term debt by $25 million because that was at a 3.9 rate versus the 6.5 rate.  The average rate goes up, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so then with that, then, understanding, are these calculations, subject again to rounding errors, roughly correct, so that is your cost of capital under the settled rate base under the existing capital structure?

MR. BROEDERS:  The calculations look correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

And just one thing, and I am going to come back to this again in a second -- and you've talked about this a little bit.  I just want to make sure I understand this.  Your long-term debt is actually more than the amount of the long-term debt that you're -- the amount of total debt that you are authorized, and so the effect of this is that you have short-term debt which is a negative; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  The long-term debt that is shown in the second section, the 2,234 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Still in the first, sorry.

MR. BROEDERS:  The 2,289 is a calculated number.  It's not indicative of our real debt.  I am just trying to make the point that the short-term debt is a result of our real long-term debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask that is because one of the effects of that is that the total cost of your debt is actually higher than the cost of your long-term debt; right?  You didn't include in Exhibit J.E-1-1-1 the total cost rate of your debt, but we've actually done that calculation, 6.61 percent.

And that's the effective cost of all of your net debt, right, under the existing capital structure?  It is just the total of -- the total interest cost divided into the total debt, net debt?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the reason for that is that effectively this way of calculating assumes that, under the existing capital structure, you borrow $33 million at 6.53 percent, and then you invest it at 1.31 percent; correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's what the numbers are insinuating, but that's not the cause of the negative short-term debt.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  The cause is that you need to get to the correct percentages; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  The cause of negative short-term debt is because there are items outside of rate base that the utility has to invest in, such as construction work-in-progress and the contributions in excess of the expense for pension.

That amounts to, for 2013, about $250 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  However, the effect of this is that you have paid a little over $2 million for that $33 million at 6.53 percent, and you got $433,000 back for it; right?  The difference is paid for by the ratepayers?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's what these numbers are implicitly showing, but it's not -- it is not what's happening.  We're not going out and investing or getting long-term debt to charge ratepayers as 4 percent so we can go earn 1 percent.

The negative short-term debt is just a result -- this negative short-term debt, which is really -- it appears to be a cash position, so similar to what you were saying, but it's not what is actually happening on our short-term debt when we're issuing commercial paper.

Our average borrowings for 2013 is predicted to be about $136 million for short-term, whereas this is suggesting it would be investing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then now I want to go to the second section here, and we took the -- again, the percentages, all the various percentages from the settlement agreement.

If you could just go to page 5 of our materials, this is where you've set these figures out.  And I just want to point out one thing, and I know you were going to point it out, anyway, so I will give you the opportunity.

On line 9 at page 5 of our materials, you will see it says the total debt is 2.142 billion or -- yes, billion.

And that's a transposition error; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That is an error.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is actually just you took the number from line 3 and put it on line 9 by mistake?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, the line -- it is an Excel thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The only reason I raise it is because our number is very different from that, and that's because, since we were calculating it separately, Excel gave us the right number.

MR. BROEDERS:  Correct.  The number that you show on page 2 of 2,126,200 is much more representative of the number than what is shown there.

However, the error is isolated to just that number.  It doesn't impact anything else on that schedule on page 5.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  The only reason I raise it is because I didn't want anybody to think our number is wrong.

MR. BROEDERS:  Fair enough.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, just to follow, what should the number be on line 9?

MR. BROEDERS:  Line 9, column A, it should be 2,126,084.  I understand that when we file the settlement agreement with the schedules, that will be updated.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these differences, like that difference between 2,126 --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  I think there is a follow-on.

MS. TAYLOR:  I wanted to clarify, because I am confused now, and I know this happens quite easily with me, so I apologize.  But just on page 2, in the total debt cost of 661 that Mr. Shepherd has, I just want to be clear that the panel has not agreed that that number is accurate.  Is that correct, or did you agree that it was accurate?  I'm not quite sure where we left the conversation.

MR. BROEDERS:  I did not test the calculation, but the numbers here look reasonable.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept it subject to check?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Now, under the settlement agreement, you have a somewhat lower long-term debt, but a higher short-term debt.

And the reason you do that is you need to get to the net of 57.25 that is the capital structure for which you are asking for approval; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  As I went through earlier, the short-term debt is not really representative of the short-term borrowings that the company is really incurring.  It's an implicit calculation based on rate base and the other three components in the schedule.

So the long-term debt is a known number.  It is representative of our real long-term debt.  The preferred equity is representative of our real preferred equity, and the common equity is simply 40 percent of the rate base.

The short-term debt figure shown here is simply the number that makes it all work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are asking the Board to approve a total debt, a capital structure of 57.25 percent.  Yes?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that number, in fact, is about $2.126 billion?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are proposing that the cost of that will be 6.80 percent; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are actually borrowing at an average cost of 6.53 percent; correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  For long-term debt, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the effect of that - tell me whether this is correct - is that that short-term debt amount, $108 million, you are actually paying just over $7 million for that in terms of the 6.53 percent long-term debt rate; right?

MR. BROEDERS:  If you apply the average rate to it, again, you are imputing numbers based on how the rate base calculation has to work, as opposed to what is really going on with the financing within the company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, the total cost of capital here, 280 million under the existing capital structure, 289 million under the proposed capital structure, that difference is not the whole difference, right?  Because then you have to do a tax gross-up, as well, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that tax gross-p is going to be about another $5 million or so?  The difference is --


MR. BROEDERS:  Oh, I see what you're...

MR. SHEPHERD:  145 to 132, so it's about 13-and-a-half-million dollars and you have to gross it up; correct?  I'm in the ballpark?

MR. BROEDERS:  Four-and-a-half million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I just want to take you to the bottom section, and what we have done in the bottom section -- I'm sure you got this last night, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have had a chance to look at it and see what we're doing here.

The intention is to look at, well, what if you have the same capital structure as the electricity distributors, and we're trying to match theirs.

And so -- let me just walk you through the lines, and tell me whether you think these are accurate.  I know there is an issue we're going to come to on preferred equity.  We will get to that in a second, which you've discussed a little bit earlier.

But the electricity distributors are deemed to borrow 56 percent at a long-term debt rate, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, I don't know what they're deemed at.  I know their debt component is deemed at 60 percent.  I wasn't aware of the splits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, you weren't aware it is 56 percent long-term debt and 40 percent short-term debt?

MR. BROEDERS:  No, I wasn't.  That's electricity distributors.  I don't -- their capital structure doesn't directly impact ours.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The result of that split would be that your cost of debt would go down quite substantially, wouldn't it?

MR. BROEDERS:  It would also infer a long-term debt that is not representative of what we actually have.

So now you are building -- what this is effectively doing is suggesting that a return component is de-linking from our actual debt structure, such that when we're doing interest coverage ratios and when we calculate the interest requirement that that ratio is based on, you are now getting a return less than what your actual long-term debt is, and it will only bring that down.

This $16 million effectively brings our interest coverage down 10 points.  So if we were at 2.1 we would now be at 2.0, and 2.0 is what we need to issue debt and this return would take us below that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is a zero-sum game though, right?  Because the total amount of your financing for ratemaking purposes has always got to equal your rate base, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The ratemaking purposes, the total amount of all financing has to be equal to your rate base, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you have less debt, you have more equity?  And vice versa, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The only difference that this does is it treats your short-term debt as a real short-term debt requirement, as opposed to borrowing money at a high rate and investing it at a low rate and making the ratepayers pay the difference.

That is the only change, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  But this short-term debt, we're seeing 148, which is your average.  Were a very, very cyclical business, and our maximum for 2013 is about 350 million.  Our average is 136.  So we have a $200 million swing, and this is ignoring the components that are outside of rate base, again, which is about another 250 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're assuming that you borrow -- that your short-term debt is not used for your rate base, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  Sorry, the short-term debt is not used for?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  For your rate base.

MR. BROEDERS:  No.  I'm suggesting it is.  But there's other items within the company that have to be funded for the utility to operate.  It's just not within the rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't rate base include working capital allowance?

MR. BROEDERS:  No, it does not.  Sorry, includes working capital, but does not include construction work-in-progress.

I may have misstated that.  I apologize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let's go down to the last section, and this is the equity section.

You're asking for a 40 percent equity ratio, but you're asking for 40 percent plus the preferred equity, right?  You're treating the preferred equity as not equity for this calculation?

MR. BROEDERS:  We are asking for 40 percent common equity component to the shareholder.  The preferred equity is external to Spectra, the shareholders.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that make a difference?

MR. BROEDERS:  We're requesting 40 percent for the common equity.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would it make a difference that somebody else holds the preferred equity?


MR. BROEDERS:  It is viewed more as debt than equity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not debt, though.  It is equity.

MR. BROEDERS:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in fact, the cost of the 3.50 percent, you have to gross that up for tax, right?

MR. BROEDERS:  Oh, yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do you disagree with the calculation of 273 million as the cost, if you're using the structure that the electricity distributors use?

Will you accept that number as being a correct calculation, subject to check?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Now, I wonder if you could go to page 6 of our materials, and I think these -- just a couple of questions are for you, Mr. Fetter.

You have a number of -- this is an excerpt from your report.

MR. FETTER:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have a number of comments on how important it is that the regulator -- how much the investors and the rating agencies look at the regulator and what the regulator says, right?

MR. FETTER:  In the utility sector, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And we can agree that what this Board says is important to the rating agencies, right?

MR. FETTER:  Very much so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we also agree that the Ontario Energy Board is known throughout -- by the rating agencies as providing a very stable and strong regulatory backup to its utilities?

MR. FETTER:  Yeah.  I think pretty positive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And indeed, in your report you have included a number of quotes from rating agencies.  And in fact, whenever we see rating reports, one of the things we see in an Ontario utility is:  great regulator.  They really give them lots of support.  It's true, right?

MR. FETTER:  Pretty positive, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that reduces the financial risk of the utilities; correct?  Does it reduce the financial risk or the business risk?  Which?

MR. FETTER:  It has an impact on risk across the board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So, then, just two other brief questions.

The first, I guess, is also to you, Mr. Fetter.  We have included an excerpt from the transcript on pages 10 and 11 of our materials.

MR. FETTER:  I have it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked about this earlier today with Mr. Warren, and I am not going to go through that again, but I just want to ask you something about this.

Do I understand you to be saying in your answers here that, in effect, the additional cost to ratepayers of the proposed higher equity thickness is sort of like an insurance premium to cover the risk associated with a bad thing happening in the financial markets?  Is that a reasonable analogy?

MR. FETTER:  I would describe it more as bringing this utility up into a mainstream financial position, so that if a very negative event affected the economy at large or the regulated sector, specifically, then Union Gas would not be an outlier and subject to negative occurrences vis-à-vis its investor -- the investors that it needs to fund its operations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That doesn't look like what you said.  It looks like what you said is -- because you were asked what's the benefit to the ratepayers, and I think what you said is the benefit to the ratepayers is this will improve Union's prospects during a financial crisis; isn't that what you said?

MR. FETTER:  It would assure their ability to go to market.  I think, as Professor Vander Weide said earlier, you know, taking it to the absurd, to use as an example, if you went to 100 percent debt, it would be incredibly less costly than having an equity component, but the customers or ratepayers would probably end up counting those savings probably in a very cold room by candlelight.

[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I guess I'm...

Whenever a cost of capital expert says if you don't do what the utility wants the world will come to an end, I think it is a bit overstatement.

MR. FETTER:  No.  I said an example where 100 percent debt would be the least costly capital structure, but it is ridiculous to even consider.

So what you do is try to strike a fair balance between the debt and equity to ensure that no matter the capital market conditions, including a global financial crisis like we saw in 2008/2009 that I think nobody in the world predicted except one guy on Wall Street who made billions of dollars, you need to put Union Gas in the same stead as the mainstream of the regulated utility sector so that it can have access to the markets, even if we see a financial crisis worse than we saw in 2008/2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding what you said earlier, that really in 2008/2009 this additional equity thickness wouldn't have mattered?  Everybody was getting whacked?

MR. FETTER:  Well, as I said, had Union Gas been in the middle of the BBB category, it probably could not have gone to market unless it paid a very extreme premium, as Nova Scotia Power did.

I think Nova Scotia Power might have been the only BBB issuer that, for its own internal purposes, was forced to go to the market then.

The other BBB entities were probably lucky, in that they did not -- they were not forced to go to the market amidst that crisis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have examples of somebody who needed to go to market and couldn't in 2008/2009; right?

MR. FETTER:  I mean, I just have examples that, in looking at the BBB-rated entities, that they didn't go to market.

So whether they wanted to and didn't, or were able to put it off because they had enough internal finances to carry them through that difficult period -- but, you know, as everyone here knows, the utility sector is so capital intensive, and part of the job of the other individuals on this panel is to make sure that they can always finance, when needed.

And to the extent that you allow a regulated utility's credit profile to weaken, it makes the job more difficult, and, potentially, if the crisis was bad enough, no matter how good the people on this panel would be, they might not be able to finance at a reasonable level when needed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the last question I wanted to ask about, and Mr. MacIntosh asked you a question about this and I got the first part of it.  And he may have got the last part, because I missed about three minutes as I was coming up the elevator.

This is page 13 of our materials.  This is the comparables, Canadian comparables.

MR. FETTER:  If it is for me, I don't have page 13.

I now have page 13.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I don't think it is for you.  I actually think it's for anybody on the panel, but probably Mr. Broeders.  But it could be anybody on the panel.

I'm trying to find a pattern in which the equity ratio, higher equity ratios, mean a better credit rating.  And what I see, in fact, is the pattern tends to be the opposite, that it is the lower equity ratios that tend to have the higher credit ratings.  Now, not always.  There is actually probably no pattern there.

But I am not seeing a pattern that is consistent with the evidence that I am hearing from Union.  Do you see a pattern there?

MR. FETTER:  I think you would have to look at each entity individually, because the weaker its credit profile, the more important it is for regulators to increase their equity thickness, and that is what I believe has been happening over the last few years since the economic crisis.

Most of these higher equity thicknesses have occurred in the last few years, and credit rating agencies do not turn on a dime and immediately raise someone's credit rating.

So I view this as an evolutionary process where there is a reaction to what the global financial crisis wrought across all industries, including this one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying --


DR. VANDER WEIDE:  I have a comment on that, as well.

If the external business risk has increased as a result of the global credit crisis, and you raise your equity ratio to more appropriately reduce your leverage, then those two things will offset each other.

So just raising your equity ratio when the business risk in an economic climate doesn't change might, with some lag, increase your credit rating.

But if at the same time you had much greater awareness of the deleterious effects of having a lot of debt, which almost everybody does since the credit crisis, then that is just going to offset -- the increase in the equity ratio will just offset the greater awareness of the business risk involved, and your rating will stay the same.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're saying is the ones with the higher equity ratios here had an increase in their business risk, so their regulators responded by saying, We'll give you more -- a higher level of equity?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  No.  I think the important information from this exhibit is that the majority of companies have equity ratios of about 40 percent; and not only that, if you couple that with information in the rest of the filing, that these equity ratios have all been increasing.

And, hence, that that's evidence that the financial community and the utilities and the regulators understand that debt adds additional risk, and so you ought -- and when the environment changes - and you have evidence that debt has gotten a lot of people into a lot of trouble - then maybe you ought to reduce your debt and increase your equity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's always been true, right, that debt increases risk?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  It's always been true, except that prior to 2008 people had kind of become complacent about it.

And so we had individual borrowers borrowing to buy, speculate on homes, and we had banks that were making more risky decisions by borrowing money.

Once you have an episode where you become very aware of the very high costs of high leverage, now you're going to change your view on what the appropriate level of equity is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying the same thing as Mr. Fetter, that this is all really about the financial crisis, and, after the financial crisis, Union's got to have more equity?  That is the simple message; right?  That is the elevated --


DR. VANDER WEIDE:  I wouldn't use the word "all".  I would say it is about risk and the perception of risk, and that perception has changed in recent years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are our questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MS TAYLOR:  Sorry, I would like to come back to page 2 of Mr. Shepherd's compendium.

The answer that you gave, and we will compare that I guess to page 4, and Mr. Shepherd discussed -- sorry, page 5, rather, of his compendium.

Your answer, about the long-term debt appears to be greater than 60 percent, was that there are other factors that are outside of rate base that need to be financed, and that's why they're showing up not only on page 2, but on page 5; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  So given that we're dealing with a rate-regulated entity and these are matters that will flow through rate base, why is it appropriate to show amounts of debt that actually are not included in rate base in these schedules?

MR. BROEDERS:  There are utility operations that are not included in rate base.  For instance, when we're investing in capital and building things, like Parkway West, those items are completely funded by the utility, but they're outside of rate base until they come into service.

MS. TAYLOR:  Right.  So, you know, on page 5, this appears to be a Union Gas schedule.  It says, "Summary of cost of capital calendar year ending December 31st, 2013."  And we've got more than 60 percent in debt.

And you're saying that at least from a long-term perspective, that is to finance things the Board has not yet agreed to put into rate base; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  Those things are primarily being funded out of short term.  But the problem is, when you come to the schedule and you try to impute what the short-term debt is, you have to work with the set rate base figure.  The long-term debt is what it is and --


MS. TAYLOR:  Well, it is what it is, but if the rate base for rate-making purposes and for the amount of costs that flow through is set at a number that is lower, you have a deemed capital structure for that purpose.

So what you're suggesting or what I am taking from this is you've actually got more here than at this point in time flows into rates; is that correct?

MR. BROEDERS:  Some of this is also in relation to shifting from a 36 percent to a 40 percent, and we're kind of in between years.

So our long-term debt, if you didn't have the 40 percent equity component that has been implied through here, this would show at 36, and then that long-term debt comes into a more reasonable number.

The problem is that we're shifting -- it is basically a $150 million shift.  So there is that.  There is also the components of the utility operations that are outside of this that don't come into the rate base.

So it's -- I take your point.  You're saying that the long-term debt appears to be higher, that we're putting things into long-term debt before they have been approved by the Board, either of the CWIP or the preferred pension cost.

The deferred pension costs are a longer-term item and are also likely getting into the long-term debt.

MS. TAYLOR:  So I would like you to do, if possible -- because I think we need to figure out exactly what the long-term debt is that we're dealing with, at 36 percent that is solely attributable to rates for 2013, assuming the status quo, and then if you go to 40 percent, what would be the long-term debt and cost?

Because we are mixing up apples and oranges.  CWIP is not in rates yet; you don't have approval for that.  Parkway is not in rates; you don't have anything for that yet.  And we have been asked not to -- I guess we will deal with that in a few minutes or a few days.

So I would like to understand what the numbers are, because I don't understand these tables on 2 and page 5, and that you've brought in non-utility numbers into a rate base calculation.

MR. BROEDERS:  Well...

MS. TAYLOR:  If you could just perhaps restate these tables to show me exactly what it is, at 36 percent, the world looks like from a long-term debt, short-term debt, total debt perspective, pref and common equity perspective.

And then if you are to go to 40 percent, what would that mean, using the numbers for rate base that were in the settlement agreement.

MR. BROEDERS:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J5.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.4:  TO RESTATE TABLES TO SHOW SITUATION AT 36 percent AND 40 percent.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, your cross-examination, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, panel --


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Millar.  I think Mr. Sommerville has a question.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This just relates to what may be consequential to that revised exhibit.

Mr. Shepherd, you prepared a series of schedules that were predicated on the -- I think, on the initial exhibit.

Do you need to restate those tables?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Sommerville, if my friend would give us the Excel that backs up their new table, then we can adjust this and ask them to approve it.

I don't think there is a disagreement on the numbers.  I think what Ms. Taylor is asking for is a different way of portraying them, so that they're more understandable.

And I think that our table would then have to be adjusted accordingly.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's my point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So I am never sure about this, passing the Excels over, because there is an inherent loss of control that happens under those circumstances, but I wonder if you can replicate -- not replicate, but adjust your tables once the undertaking has been fulfilled and then provide those.

And that does require a certain amount of forbearance from the Applicant to permit that to happen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We have been cooperating with our Excel spreadsheets and -- throughout the piece, so I don't think it is a problem.

MR. SMITH:  I don't see a problem.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Good.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Good morning, panel.  I would like to start with a clarification question, which I think will be pretty easy for you to answer.

Does Union actually issue debt itself, or is that function undertaken by Spectra?  Or is it both?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes, we issue at the Union Gas level.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So all of the debt for Union Gas Limited is issued by Union Gas Limited?

MR. FICHTNER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Both long-term, short-term?  The works?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

For the ratings agencies, S&P and DBRS, they rate Union separately; is that right?

MR. FICHTNER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  They also rate Spectra, I assume, but that is a separate rating?

MR. FICHTNER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  A question for Mr. Broeders.  You had a discussion with Mr. Warren earlier today.  He had asked you a question about the utility's obligation to balance the interests of ratepayers and the shareholder -- actually, I guess technically that is the Board's responsibility -- but you will recall that conversation.

I actually had the court reporter print off a page, so I am going to read directly as it appears, at least on the rough version of the transcript, and I will have a couple of questions for you about it.

There is no page number on this yet because it is not the official version.

You said:

"As I stated yesterday, Union Gas does not believe that its risk has materially changed.  However, a risk is not -- or, sorry, the equity structure is not commensurate with the risk we have.  Also, when we take a look at our interest coverage ratios, based on the regulated side of the company, the regulated entity could not issue debt because we would be under the 2.0 requirement."

And then you continue:

"The only reason that we can issue debt is because the unregulated entity is subsidizing the company."

Do you recall that discussion?

MR. BROEDERS:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned a coverage ratio or interest coverage ratio of less than 2.0 for the regulated side of the business; is that number on the record anywhere?

MR. BROEDERS:  No, it's not.

MR. MILLAR:  So is this the first we have heard of this?

MR. BROEDERS:  I believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  So is this a calculation you can provide?  Because I believe the coverage ratios are in the high twos, for the -- pardon me, for Union Gas Limited.

MR. BROEDERS:  On an actual basis.  For the 2013 projected, the calculation is about -- on a proposed basis it's about, it's a little over two.  Without the equity proposal, it would be below two.

MR. MILLAR:  So would you be able to show us how you got to the coverage ratio of less than two for the regulated side?  Is that an undertaking you could take?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's J5.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.5:  to SHOW HOW THE INTEREST COVERAGE RATIO OF LESS THAN TWO FOR THE REGULATED SIDE WAS REACHED.


MR. MILLAR:  Then you stated that the only reason that you can issue debt is because the unregulated entity is subsidizing the company.

So absent the unregulated side of the business, you couldn't issue debt?  Union Gas couldn't issue debt?  Is that true?

MR. BROEDERS:  Based on our capital structure, no, we could not.

MR. MILLAR:  So if the unregulated side got hived off somehow, sold off, the regulated business wouldn't be able to issue debt?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

You had a discussion with Mr. Shepherd involving the preference shares or preference equity, and there was a bit of a discussion as to whether or not that is treated as debt or equity, and I think you agreed with him that it was treated as equity.

But can you confirm how your auditor treats those, that equity?  Is it debt or equity for your auditors?

MR. BROEDERS:  I believe there -- there's multiple components within the pref shares.  I think this is four separate issues.

Two of them are treated as debt, and the other two are treated as equity.

MR. MILLAR:  And the total amount, is it about 4 percent?

That could be wrong.  There was a schedule, I think, that --


MR. BROEDERS:  I believe it was 2.75 percent, per Mr. Shepherd's schedule that I just saw.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know what portion of that is debt versus equity, at least according to your auditors?  Is it about 50-50?

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know the numbers specifically, but the majority would be equity.

MR. MILLAR:  The majority would be equity?

In calculating your coverage ratios, did you treat it as debt or equity, the same way your auditors did?  Maybe you could confirm that, or --


MR. BROEDERS:  I will confirm it.  I know I treated it the way it was supposed to be, consistent with the interest coverage calculation.

MR. MILLAR:  Could we include that as 5.5?  When you produce the calculation, you can --


MR. BROEDERS:  It will be part of the calculation.  It will be shown there, how it is treated.

MR. MILLAR:  If this isn't already part of that, can you include which portion of the preference equity is equity versus debt, just to be clear, by your auditors?

We can do it as a separate undertaking.

MR. BROEDERS:  I don't know how relevant it is.  The way I approach the calculation is you take the total return, which is debt and equity.  You would gross up the tax.  Then you take off the short-term interest component.  The preferred equity would stay as a return component, so it doesn't become part of the interest requirement that you are going to ultimately divide it by, to figure that out.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I will ask for it as a separate undertaking, then.

Can you tell us, of the 2.75 percent or whatever the actual number is for preference equity, what portion of that is treated as debt versus equity by your auditors?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is J5.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.6:  to EXPLAIN WHAT PORTION IS FOR PREFERENCE EQUITY IS TREATED AS DEBT VERSUS EQUITY BY THE AUDITORS.


MR. MILLAR:  One more clarification question.

I don't know if this is something you can even answer, but in discussions, I think with Mr. Warren and perhaps with others, it was observed that S&P increased Union's credit rating to BBB-plus in 2007.  Do you recall that?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  It's been there ever since?

MR. BROEDERS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know why the rating was increased in 2007?

MR. FICHTNER:  I believe it was primarily as a result of the spin-off of Spectra Energy from Duke Energy Corp.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, gentlemen, those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I think Mr. Sommerville has a question.
Questions by the Board:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just to follow up a little bit from Mr. Millar's question, you've recently undertaken in 5.5 and 5.6 to do some calculations.

I wonder if you could be particularly explicit and narrative with respect to the assumptions that you are making in concluding those calculations.

So we want to know exactly the basis upon which you are making those calculations and the assumptions that you are making.

MR. BROEDERS:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we are happy to do that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  The other question I had -- I don't know Mr. Broeders, or whether it is for someone else on the panel.  Perhaps Mr. Canniff might have a point of view on this.

You will recall some time ago the Board made a decision that's typically referred to as the forbearance decision.  It related to the storage and transportation portions of some of the operations of the company.

Mr. Quinn got into this with you in his cross-examination.  Now, would you regard that business to be more or less risky; from a business risk point of view, or whatever kind of risk you want to identify, more or less risky than the utility portion of the operation?

MR. CANNIFF:  I'm going to make reference to S&P and DBRS and how they look at it, just generally.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, I want to know how you look at it.

MR. CANNIFF:  Okay.  I look at it as it's subject to market-based pricing.  So, therefore, by definition, I believe it would be more risky.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  That's my question.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, do you have redirect for this panel?

MR. SMITH:  I do have a few brief questions, Madam Chair.
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Panel, could I ask you to turn up J2-14-1 -- it should be J.E-2-14-1.  My apologies.

And I'm particularly interested in the first part of the question, and I believe this is a question for you, Mr. Fichtner.

The question asked about the amount of time that elapsed between the date the information circulars were distributed and the investments were fully described, and that appears to be a same-day event.

At what point do you begin speaking to market professionals about a possible issuance?

MR. FICHTNER:  So for debt offerings, we don't actually distribute information circulars or marketing documents for the transaction.  Basically, the investors rely on all of our publicly-filed documents, including quarterly and annual financial statements, all of our SEDAR filings, informational postings.

They also rely on the fact that our agent banks go through a due diligence process with the company, company management.  There is an oral due diligence call.  There is document due diligence, and so forth.

But when we actually go to offer the securities, our agent banks will announce the transaction in the morning to the market, and basically all they really -- the only additional information they give the investors is the size of the transaction that we're trying to place, as well as the tenure that we're targeting, and then they will start to talk and negotiate rates and take orders from the investors to build a book that will then price typically midday to early afternoon, and that's pretty much the entire transaction.

MR. SMITH:  And when during that process do you begin speaking to your agent bankers about a possible issuance?

MR. FICHTNER:  Typically three weeks to a month prior to the date that we would like to offer, and that's to allow for the time to go through the due diligence process with the agent banks, but the investors themselves are not involved in that process.

MR. SMITH:  And what information, if any, do you receive about -- from the agent bankers about their views as to the marketability of an underwriting?

MR. FICHTNER:  We rely heavily on information from our bankers in terms of indicative pricing, demand for our securities, and so forth.  And, yes, they advise us through the process in terms of what we can expect from the investor side.

MR. SMITH:  Dr. Vander Weide, I believe this is a question for you.  You were taken by Mr. Warren to Mr. Janigan's compendium and a reference to a Moody's report.  Do you recall that, sir?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You made an observation about S&P's subsequent report.  I would like you to assume, for the purpose of my question, that S&P hadn't released its subsequent report, because we have your evidence as to that.

But does -- just on the Moody's report alone, does that change your view as to the applicability of US information?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  No, not whatsoever.

MR. SMITH:  Just pausing there, why do you say that?

DR. VANDER WEIDE:  Because, as I discussed in my testimony, the business risks of the US and Canadian utilities are very similar.  They both use the same technologies.  The economics of electric and gas distribution is the same in the US as it is in Canada.

They each have similar cost adjustment mechanisms and rate stabilization mechanisms.  And, also, it has been generally aware for the last several years, that the rate stabilization and cost adjustment mechanisms have increased considerably for US utilities to make them very comparable to those for Canadian utilities.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Broeders or perhaps Mr. Canniff, can you just tell us why you treat preferred shares as debt for the purposes of your capital structure?

MR. BROEDERS:  When I made that reference, it was more that our proposal is based on 40 percent equity.  When we say that, we mean our common equity component.  So when I'm saying preferred shares we view more as debt, it was in relation to that.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

We will adjourn for the day, then, and resume on Thursday with Dr. Booth at 9:30, and then the schedule shows that it would be 90 minutes.  So we would then have panel 4, revenue ex-franchise.  Is that your understanding, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, it is.

MS. HARE:  Just for planning purposes, on Thursday we will break at 12:20 for lunch until 1:50.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:10 p.m.
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